UNITED
NATIONS E

D str.
GENERAL

Economic and Social
Council

E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR 37
29 Novenber 1996

Oiginal: ENGISH

COW TTEE ON ECONOM C, SOCI AL AND CULTURAL RI GHTS
Fi fteenth session
SUWARY RECORD COF THE 37t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Pal ais des Nations, Ceneva,
on Monday, 25 Novenber 1996, at 10 a.m

Chairperson : M. ALSTON

CONTENTS
RELATI ONS WTH UNI TED NATI ONS CRGANS AND OTHER TREATY BCDI ES ( conti nued )
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPCRTS:

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTIES | N ACOCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT ( continued)

Third periodic report of Finland

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submtted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a menmorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Pal ais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the nmeetings of the Committee at this
session will be consolidated in a single corrigendumto be issued shortly
after the end of the session.

GE 96-19327 (B



E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR 37
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 10.15 a.m

RELATI ONS WTH UNI TED NATI ONS ORGANS AND OTHER TREATY BCDI ES (agenda item 7)
(continued)

1. The CHAIRPERSON inforned the Conmittee that he had been absent recently
to participate in a semnar in Potsdamon the future of the hunman rights
treaties. The semnar had been attended by experts and nenbers of other
treaty bodies and the experience had left himgreatly encouraged about the
Committee's own work. The Conmittee enjoyed a greater unity of spirit and the
nmenbers' individual viewpoints never prevented them from achi eving consensus.

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPCRTS

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTIES | N ACOCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT (agenda item4) ( conti nued)

Third periodic report of Finland (E/ 1994/ 104/ Add. 7;
E/C 12/QFIN 1; HR/CORE 1/ Add. 59/ Rev. 1)

2. At the invitation of the Chairperson, M. Sal nenperéd, M. KaiVvosoja,

Ms. Jouttindki and Ms. Pietarinen (Finland) took places at the Committee
table.

3. The CHAIRPERSON invited the head of the Finnish delegation to introduce
his country's third periodic report (E 1994/104/Add. 7).

4, M. SALMENPERA (Finland) said that there had been further devel opnents
inthe field of economc, social and cultural rights since the subm ssion of
Finland's report in May 1995. There had been a declining trend in

unenpl oynent, which al though still alarmngly high, at 15.1 per cent had
fallen 9 per cent since 1995. Youth unenpl oynment had dropped nore rapidly -
down 20 per cent fromthe 1995 level - and currently stood at 25.6 per cent.
Long-t erm unenpl oynment had decreased, ow ng to government-subsi di zed traini ng
and j ob pl acenent progranmmes, but even so nearly a third of all unenpl oyed
persons had been out of work for nore than a year. The decline in

unenpl oynment was expected to continue. Inflation, at 0.8 per cent, was the

| owest in the European Union and interest rates had continued to fall. It
remai ned to be seen whether the ai mof halving the unenpl oynent rate by the
end of 1999 woul d be achi eved.

5. New unenpl oynment subsidy | egislation, ainmed at encouragi ng nore active
j ob-seeki ng and at nmaki ng work even of short duration nore lucrative than
unenpl oynent, as well as at preventing a systematic m suse of the unenpl oynent
security system would cone into force at the begi nning of 1997. It was
furthernore intended to secure the position of those who risked | ong-term or
per manent exclusion fromthe | abour nmarket. There had al so been a najor
change in working-tinme legislation. In addition to a sinplification of the
previous | egislation, the enactment had introduced new el enments of workers
protection concerning daily rest periods, maxi numanounts of overtine and the
right of workers to work shorter hours for personal reasons if they so w shed.



E/ C 12/ 1996/ SR 37
page 3

It also provided greater flexibility for enployers and enpl oyees'
representatives to agree on exceptions to otherw se bi nding provisions
regardi ng regul ar working tinme.

6. A total reformof Chapter Il of the Finnish Constitution Act concerni ng
fundanental rights, which applied explicitly to all persons within the
jurisdiction of Finland, including non-Finnish nationals, had come into force
in August 1995. The reform broadened and strengthened the constitutiona
protection of the rights of individuals in line with international hunman
rights agreenents. Social rights had been given greater protection than
before and any reduction in social services therefore had to take account of

t he new provi si ons.

7. Wth regard to social welfare and health care, the conprehensive social
security schene included a guaranteed ninimumincone for those faced with
social risks, such as illness and unenpl oynent, and uni versal parental |eave

and child all omances. By international standards, the |evel of socia

security was high. Wnen's opportunities to seek enpl oynment had been
facilitated and wonen had therefore been able to participate increasingly in
soci al decision-making. Since, like social security, health care was financed
by tax revenues, it was available to everyone free of charge or at very |ow
cost. A private service systemconpl enented public health care, especially in
the large towns. Child day care, care of older persons and famly counselling
were provided as part of that system There were also |arge-scale voluntary
services. Welfare services were alnost totally provided by the
municipalities, with the State granting a 30 per cent subsidy. The

nuni ci palities had an i ndependent right of taxation, which covered about half
their expenditure. The tax revenues of both the State and the nunicipalities
had, however, decreased and it had been necessary to raise taxation rates in
order to cover social security costs, which were also partly financed by
foreign debt. The costs of social welfare and health care had none the |ess
had to be reduced in recent years, but since the econony had stabilized there
was reason to believe that the welfare State would not be threatened in the
future.

8. The recent recession had shown that the social security systemwas of
vital inportance; it had maintained the internal cohesion of society in the
difficult enployment situation. Reformconcentrated on the activating
features of social security, namely individual initiative and shared

responsi bility, including preventive action. Social policy, as well as
providing a safety net, was a resource that had a favourabl e influence on the
functioning of the econony. 1Its scope should therefore be proportional to
financial capacity in order to maintain the conpetitiveness of the econony.

9. The conprehensi ve system of education, in both Fi nnish and Swedi sh,
ainmed to raise the level of education and to offer equal educationa
opportunities to all. Those ains had been largely realized. A nost everyone

conpl eted the conpul sory nine years' schooling and over 90 per cent continued
their studies in upper secondary schools or vocational schools. CQurricula

i ncl uded internati onal education in order to increase know edge and

under standi ng of different cultures. A new devel opnent was the establishnent
of so-called AMK institutions of professional and vocational higher education.
Adult education had al so expanded rapidly. Overall, wonmen - especially



E/ C 12/ 1996/ SR 37
page 4

younger wonen - were better educated than nmen. The Covernnent, which had
shifted the focus of education policy frominfrastructure to inproved quality,
had adopted its latest five-year plan, “Education and Research 2000”, in
Decenber 1995.

10. Fi nl and provided a high I evel of public funding of culture. A system of
grants to artists offset the snall size of the national market. The |evel of
cul tural participation was generally high and the use of public libraries was
anong the highest in the world. There was a wi de network of cultura
institutions. Wnen were particularly active in cultural life. The needs of
mnorities were also taken into account. The Swedi sh-speaking mnority -
about 6 per cent of the population - had a number of cultural institutions of
its own, including a television channel, a radio channel and several theatres
and newspapers, and some 600 books were published annually in Swedish.

Special efforts were made to ensure that the Sam - an indi genous people - and
the Roma could naintain their ow traditional cultures. Interest in |earning
Sam, in particular, had increased after the | anguage had received officia
recognition in 1991. Rona children had a right to study their |anguage in
school .

11. The CHAIRPERSON invited the Commttee to refer to the list of issues
(EFC 12/QFIN1) to be taken up in connection with the consideration of
Finland' s third periodic report.

12. M. THAPALIA requested details of denographic, socio-economc and
cultural indicators relating to the Sam, Roma and immigrants over the past
few years, covering their racial conposition, infant nortality, fertility
rates, enployment, literacy rates anong both nen and wonen, norbidity and

per capita income. He would also |ike to know whether Finland had established
a human rights commssion and, if so, howit was constituted. Lastly, would
Finland naintain its admrable human rights record by supporting the draft

opti onal protocol to the Covenant?

13. M. TEXIER said that according to the Finnish League for Human R ghts
t he Covenant had not originally been accorded the same status as ot her human
rights treaties. He understood that there were new | aws incorporating the
provi sions of the Covenant, but he wondered whether the Covenant itself was
considered by judges to have the force of law. He, too, wanted clarification
of the Government's position on the draft optional protocol

14, M. CGRISSA asked about arrangenents for the novenent of nomadi ¢ peopl es,
such as those herding reindeer, across frontiers. D d they require passports
and were there national frontiers?

15. M. SAIMENPERA (Finland) said, inreply to M. Thapalia, that inasmch
as high-quality medical services were universally available, the situation of
mnorities with regard to norbidity and childbirth was good, but he had no
detailed information to hand and woul d need to report back later. Regarding
M. Texier's question, the Covenant had the sane status as other internationa
agreenents; since its provisions were already enshrined in Finnish lawit did
not, for the purposes of the judicial system need to be approved separately
by Parlianent. As to M. @Gissa' s point, not only the Sam and their reindeer
herds but all Finns could travel freely, w thout passports, in the Nordic




E/ C 12/ 1996/ SR 37
page 5

countries. The problens of the Roma, who had first cone to Finland in the
sixteenth century, related |l ess to passports than to housing and | ack of
enpl oynent, issues that affected themto a greater extent than other groups.

16. Ms. PIETARINEN (Finland), responding to M. Thapalia s queries, said
that her Covernnent's position regarding the draft optional protocol had been
explained inits witten answer to issue No. 4 of the list of issues. Finland
did not have a hurman rights commission, but it did have an Advi sory Board on
International Human Rights Affairs, whose nenbers included representatives of
human rights organi zati ons, wonen's associ ations, the Mnistry of Foreign
Affairs and the Mnistry of Justice. The question as to whether there should
be a human rights onbudsman was still under di scussion.

17. The CHAIRPERSON said he took it fromthe earlier reply that the
statenent nmade by the Finnish League for Human R ghts to the effect that the
Covenant had a | ower status than ordinary acts of Parliament was incorrect.

18. M. SALMENPERA (Finland) said that the Covenant did not have a | ower
st at us.

19. Ms. PIETARI NEN expl ained that no specific |egislation had been required
toratify the Covenant. It mght have a lower status in theory, but the
question of relative formal status nade little difference in practice.

20. The CHAI RPERSON observed that according to one representative of Fi nland
the Covenant enjoyed the sane | egal status as other instruments, while
according to another it had a | ower status.

21. M. SALMENPERA (Finland) said the fact that the Covenant had been
ratified in a presidential decree nmeant that it forned part of Finnish |aw
It was placed on the sane level as if it had been enbodied in an act of
Parliament and on the same |level as other treaties and covenants.

22. M. ADEKUOYE asked whether the provisions of the Covenant or the
provi sions of domestic law would prevail in the event of a conflict between
t hem

23. M. GRISSA inquired whether it was correct to say that in Finland the
Presi dent of the Republic was allowed to | egislate and that presidential
decrees had the sane force as acts of Parliament.

24. Ms. BONOAN-DANDAN said that Finland s response to issue No. 3 of the
list of issues mght be the result of a m sunderstanding. The point was not
whet her Fi nni sh courts had ever based their rulings on the provisions of the
Covenant but whether those provisions had ever been invoked before them To
approach the matter froma different angle, what was the | evel of public

awar eness of the Covenant ?

25. Ms. JIMENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked why the Covenant did not have the sane
rank as the European Social Charter or the European Convention on Hunan Ri ghts
in the Finnish | egal order.




E/ C 12/ 1996/ SR 37
page 6

26. M. CEAUSU said that he was fully satisfied with the way in which
Finland had nmet its treaty obligation. |In nost countries, it was normal for
the Parliament to ratify treaties, but in Finland the Covenant had been
ratified by presidential decree, thus obviating the need for another enact nment
togive it effect. It was his understanding that the Covenant had not thereby
been accorded a |l ower legal status and that its provisions could be invoked
before the courts.

27. M. ALVAREZ VITA said that, in terns of its applicability in the
donesti c sphere, the Covenant appeared to be relatively weak and at a

di sadvant age conpared with instruments of the European human rights system

It further seened that the Covenant could easily be denounced. The del egation
of Finland m ght wish to convey that concern to its Governnent.

28. M. SALMENPERA (Finland) thanked M. Ceausu for his clear analysis of
the situation in Finnish law. There was no difference as between the
treatnment of the Covenant and other simlar instrunents by the courts,

al t hough the question of denunciation m ght be problenatic.

29. Ms. PIETARNEN (Finland) said that the provisions of the Covenant could
be i nvoked before the courts, but the Covernment renai ned unaware of any
i nstance when a Finnish court had based its ruling on the Covenant.

30. M. TEXIER said that the reason why the European Conventi on on Human
Rights was now treated alnost as if it were donestic |aw in western European
countries was that it was wi dely known anong | awyers. The International
Covenant on Economic, Social and Qultural Rights was not so well known,

al t hough know edge of it would undoubtedly spread if the optional protocol
cane into force. Efforts were therefore required to nake the Covenant better
known.

31. M. SALMENPERA (Finland) said that Finnish | awers were beconing nore
aware of the Covenant. As know edge of it inproved, its provisions would be
i ncreasi ngly invoked. The President of Finland did not have the sane

| egi sl ative powers as Parliament, but could nake treaties binding.

32. Ms. BONOAN-DANDAN , turning to articles 2 and 3 of the Covenant, asked
whet her any benefits were available to illegal inmmgrants and whet her they had
any neans of |egalizing their presence.

33. M. TEXIER noted that new provisions had been introduced in the Penal
Code to counter discrimnation in enploynent. Discrinmnation in housing and
enpl oynent was notoriously difficult to prove and he would |ike to know
whet her any conpl ai nts had been made in those areas. Cender discrimnation,
it seemed, was dealt with by a separate onbudsman.

34. M. SAIMENPERA (Finland) replied that illegal immigrants enjoyed a
certain amount of financial support and had a special onbudsman to uphol d
their rights. A few cases had been brought under the new provisions agai nst
discrimnation in the Penal Code. There had, of course, been simlar

provi si ons agai nst discrimnation in enploynment before, the nmain effect of the
new | egi sl ation being to increase the penalties. It was still too early to
judge how effective the new provisions would be. Unenploynment in Finland was




E/ C. 12/ 1996/ SR 37
page 7

very high and discrimnation in enpl oynment agai nst ol der people was a rea
problem The special |egislation and procedures relating to gender
discrimnation were nore effective

35. M. CEAUSU said that he wondered whether the reason why the Covernnent
had know edge of so few cases of discrimnation was that no proper statistics
were conpiled on the subject. It mght be a good idea in general if the
Conmittee were to suggest that States parties should adapt their statistica
procedures to the requirements of the Covenant so that the situation in that

regard would be clear. In Finland illegal inmmgrants seened to enjoy the sane
rights as legal immgrants. In recent years, nany western European countries
had concl uded agreenents whereby illegal immgrants were expelled and were

taken back by their countries of origin. Had Finland concluded any such
agreenents?

36. M. WMR ZAMBRANO requested clarification of the difference in status
between illegal and | egal inmigrants, especially regarding their enjoynent of
econom ¢, social and cultural rights.

37. M. AHMED said he was surprised that illegal inmmgrants had access to
State aid in Finland when legally resident foreign students did not.

38. M. SAIMENPERA (Finland) said that social assistance was granted to all
persons in need. Mre infornation would be provided i n due course.

39. M. AHMED requested clarification concerning a report by the Finnish
League for Human R ghts stating that foreign students and unenpl oyed peopl e
were no | onger covered by the residence-based social security system

40. Ms. JQUTTIMAKI  (Finland) replied that the Suprene Court was currently
exam ni ng the issue.

41. M. AHMED asked why pensions and unenpl oynent benefits had been frozen
when salaries and living costs were rising.

42. M. SAILMENPERA (Finland) explained that the anonaly was tenporary and
due to the recession. Existing benefits and pensi ons were, however, adequate
to meet basic needs.

43. Ms. JIMENEZ BUTRAGUENO asked whet her those people directly affected by
the readj ustnments had been consulted. GCould old-age, retirenent and w dow s
pensi ons be cl ai med si nul taneousl y? Al so had there been any instances of
fraudulent clains for invalidity pensions?

44, M. TEXIER, turning to article 6 of the Covenant, commented that

the 12.5 per cent unenpl oynent rate expected to be achi eved by 1999 was stil
hi gh. What nmeasures were being inplemented to address the probl em of

| arge-scal e dismssals in conpanies contenpl ating restructuring, nerging or
i ntroduci ng | ess | abour-intensive technol ogi es?

45. M. AHMED noted that unenpl oyment in Finland had increased fivefold
since 1990, according to an International Labour O ganization (ILO report.
Coul d high youth unenpl oyment be a factor in the nunber of youth suicides -



E/ C 12/ 1996/ SR 37
page 8

whi ch anmounted to as many as 50 per year in the 15 to 19 age group, and 100 a
year anong persons aged between 20 and 24, according to data fromthe Finnish
nati onal progranmme of action. Wat governnental measures were being taken in
that regard?

46. M. SALMENPERA (Finland) said that legislation in effect since 1978
required firnms enpl oying nmore than 20 persons to hold negotiations for up to
six nmonths prior to any reduction in their workforce, with a viewto

consi dering such alternatives as the retraining of staff for other positions.
The conpul sory negotiati on period had recently been shortened, but it still
conplied with European Union directives, a correlati on between youth suici des
and unenpl oynment was hard to prove, but he shared M. Ahmed s concern. The
Covernnent was currently inplenenting youth training schemes.

47. M. CEAUSU, referring to article 7 of the Covenant, asked why Finland
had not ratified the ILO Wekly Rest (Comrerce and O'fices) Convention, 1957
(No. 106) and M ni mum Vage Fi xi ng Convention, 1970 (No. 131).

48. M. TEXIER inquired whether the issue of Sunday rest was as contentious
an issue in Finland as it was in France. D d workers' representatives
participate in the inplenentati on of safety inspection systens?

49. M. AHMED said that he wondered whet her, given the unenpl oynment
situation, the Government of Finland had not declined to ratify ILO Convention
No. 106 concerni ng weekly rest specifically in order to be able to offer the
unenpl oyed greater opportunities for work. Al so the absence of rel evant
legislation in Finland neant that the mnimumlevel of renuneration was

determ ned through collective bargaining. Perhaps Finland found it preferable
to maintain that practice, which appeared to satisfy the needs of enployers
and workers alike, rather than set an artificial mninumwage |level. Could
that explain Finland's reluctance to ratify ILO Convention No. 131 concerning
m ni num wage fi xi ng?

50. M. SAILMENPERA (Finland) explained that the Finnish Comittee which
regularly reviewed unratified ILOinstrunments had recently noted that the
mnor | egislative problens referred to in the witten replies no |onger
constituted an obstacle to ratification of the Convention relating to weekly
rest. The problemnow renained a purely political one, which Finland woul d
have to tackle in order to conply with its obligations as a menber of the

I nternational Labour O ganization.

51. As to the question of a mnimumwage, M. Ahnmed was right in some
respects: Finland had a | ong-established tradition of social partners

negoti ating |l evels of renunerati on and was reluctant to break w th that
tradition. The systemhad thus far proved to be fair and flexible and,
contrary to expectations, had not resulted in low levels of remuneration. In
fact, enployers conpl ained that wages were too high and did little to inprove
t he unenpl oynent situation. Problens night none the | ess arise when there was
no coll ective agreenent concerning a particular sector; in such cases, the
principle that wages nust be reasonable and allow for a decent |ivelihood was
applied. Cases brought before the courts had on the whol e been successfully
resol ved al ong those |ines.



E/ C 12/ 1996/ SR 37
page 9

52. Replying to M. Texier's questions, he pointed out that |egislation
dating from 1973 required conpanies with at |east 20 enpl oyees to allow the
latter to elect a conmttee responsi ble for neasures concerni ng occupati ona
safety, including hazards at work and occupati onal di seases. Smaller
conpani es were obliged to have a shop steward in charge of such natters.

53. As to the matter of Sunday work, new | egislation stipulated that

enpl oyees should be entitled to at |east 25 hours of rest over the weekend.
As a rule the period of rest should include Sundays, although in sone
occupations where that was not possible it fell on other days of the week.
Since the legislation was fairly restrictive, requiring overtime to be paid
for work on Sundays, which anmounted to double pay, it could not be said that
wor k on Sundays was nore commonpl ace in Finland than in other European
countries.

54. M. ADEKUOYE asked the Finnish del egation to explain why woren
apparently found it so difficult to reach top managerial positions.

55. M. SALMENPERA (Finland) said that, contrary to the inpression given
by the report, many wonen in Finland al ready occupi ed positions of
responsibility, as borne out by the conposition of the del egation. Perhaps
the problemwas that until recently those in charge of the recruitment of
executives were mainly men thensel ves. However, the situation was rapidly
changing, as current legislation required that at | east 40 per cent of the
nmenbers of official coomttees and bodi es nmust be wonen. Mbreover, wonen were
now far better educated than nmen in Finland.

56. Ms. JQUTTIMAKI  (Finland) said that there would be greater equality

bet ween the sexes in future thanks to a nunber of anmendnents made the previous
year to the Act on Equality between Wnen and Men. As a result, enployers
were now obliged to draw up action plans with the participation of enpl oyees
to inprove de facto equality in the workplace by uncovering el enents of sexua
discrimnation. The action plans were to be assessed one year after

i npl enentati on and nodi fied, where necessary.

57. M. CEAUSU asked for clarification of the statement in the witten
replies to the effect that under the new Wrking Hours Act, the maxi num anmount
of overtime would be 138 hours within a period of four nonths. Should that
figure be multiplied by three to obtain the yearly limt for overtime? If so
it would appear to exceed the previous limt.

58. M. SAIMENPERA (Finland) agreed that the information regarding overtine
given in the witten replies was rather msleading. The naxi mumovertime that
could be worked in any four-nonth period was 138 hours but the annual |imt
was 250 hours.

59. M. CEAUSU renarked that the apparent increase in the amount of overtine
all owed ran counter to the Government's objective to create enpl oynent. He
woul d have wel comed additional statistics on overtime in the witten replies,

i ncl udi ng the average nunber of hours of overtine worked in one year per

enpl oyee.



E/ C 12/ 1996/ SR 37
page 10

60. M. SALMENPERA (Finland) said that the former legislation had, in fact,
allowed a total of 480 hours' overtine in one year. The limts set under the
new Wor ki ng Hours Act therefore represented a considerable i mprovenent in the
situation, although it mght not suffice to resolve the enpl oynent crisis.
More detailed statistics on the subject could be submtted to the Conmittee in
due course. Stopping overtine mght generate new jobs but enpl oyers generally
hel d the view that overtime could not be elimnated as a degree of flexibility
in working hours was required. Al though that mght be true in some cases, it
was felt that in certain enterprises overtinme was being used as a neans of
avoi ding the creation of new jobs. That had been one of the Covernment's nain
concerns when drafting the new Wrki ng Hours Act.

61. M. TEXIER inquired whether a reduction in the working week was being
considered in Finland as a way of conbating unenpl oynent.

62. M. SALMENPERA (Finland) said that there was currently nuch debate on
the issue of shorter working hours and various contradictory school s of

t hought had energed. The Government had recently organi zed a sem nar on the
subj ect but had not drawn any firmconclusions as yet. A nunber of pil ot
schemes were under way to test the effectiveness of shorter working hours but
it was anticipated that the results would show that a shorter working week
coul d not provide a global solution.

63. M. WMR ZAMBRANO observed that nmany speakers had failed to take into
account the fact that, although unenpl oynent rates in Finland were still high,
they had decreased considerably of late as a result of measures taken by the
Cover nnent .

The neeting rose at 1 p.m




